ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FAILING 
TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT ALTERNATIVE SENTENCING. 

KIND OF PROCEEDING AND THE NATURE OF 

THE RULING IN THE CIRCUIT COURT 


This is a direct appeal from a final order entered by the Circuit Court of Jackson 

County, West Virginia granting the State's Motion for Summary Judgment in regards to 

the Petitioner's Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. The Petitioner's third habeas 

petition was denied without an evidentiary hearing. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

On June 18, 2014, a Criminal Complaint was filed in the Magistrate Court of 

Braxton County alleging that the Petitioner, Gerald Doom, on or about the 14th day of 

June, 2014, committed the act of Shoplifting-Third Offense. The Complaint alleged 

that the Defendant took $9.91 of merchandise from Fisher's Auto including a flashlight 

and three air fresheners. The Complaint further alleged that the Petitioner was caught in 

the act of shoplifting when a store employee noticed the flashlight shining in the 

Petitioner's pants pocket. (A.R. at 3). 
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Following the completion of an indigent waiver, the Petitioner was appointed 

counsel, Kevin Hughart, Hughart Law Office to represent his legal interests. (AR. at 1). 

On June 30, 2014, the Petitioner appeared in Magistrate Court for a preliminary hearing 

and the timeframe for said hearing was waived upon written motion of Counsel. (AR. at 

). Thereafter, on December 17, 2014, the Defendant waived his right to a preliminary 

hearing in Magistrate Court and the matter was bound over to the Circuit Court. (AR. at 

On February 3, 2015, the Petitioner, Gerald Doom was indicted on one count of 

the felony of Shoplifting-Third Offense. On February 9, 2015, an arraignment was held 

and the Petitioner entered a plea of "not guilty." (AR. at 18). Thereafter, following 

deliberation between Petitioner's Counsel, Kevin Hughart and the Braxton County 

Prosecuting Attorney's Office, a plea agreement was reached and the matter was set 

for a plea hearing. On April 27, 2015, a Plea Hearing was held and the Petitioner's 

written plea agreement was entered, along with the Petitioner's "Rights Waived by 

Guilty Plea," "Defendant's Statement in Support of Guilty Plea" and "Attorney's 

Statement in Support of Guilty Plea." (AR. at 23-28). 

Thereafter, on June 22, 2015, a Sentencing Hearing was held in the Circuit Court 

of Braxton County. (A.R. at 29). At the hearing, Circuit Court Judge Richard Facemire 

inquired as to whether Petitioner's Counsel had reviewed the pre-sentence investigation 

report with the Petitioner, to which Petitioner's Counsel replied in the affirmative. The 

Circuit Court further inquired as to whether Petitioner, or Petitioner's Counsel had any 

objections to the factual allegations .contained in the pre-sentence investigation report 

and Petitioner's Counsel advised the court that neither had objections to the information 

contained in the report. 
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The Circuit Court then proceeded to the sentencing of the Petitioner. At that time, 

Petitioner's Counsel asked the Circuit Court to allow the Petitioner to be granted 

alternative sentencing, or in the alternative, to run the Petitioner's Braxton County 

sentence concurrently with the sentence the Petitioner was currently serving from 

Monongalia County, West Virginia. (A.R. at 29-34). The State of West Virginia also 

recommended that the Petitioner's sentence run concurrently with any time that the 

Petitioner was presently serving on prior charges from other counties. The Petitioner's 

motion for alternative sentencing was promptly denied by Sentencing Judge, Richard 

Facemire, who found that based on the Petitioner's Pre-Sentence Investigation, the 

Petitioner was a poor candidate for alternative sentencing and if granted probation or 

home confinement, he was likely to re-offend. 

Thereafter, the Petitioner was sentenced to not less than (1) one year nor more 

than (10) ten years incarceration in the state penitentiary, said sentence to run 

consecutively to the sentence the Petitioner received in Monongalia County, West 

Virginia. No fine was imposed on the Petitioner, but the Petitioner was ordered to pay 

$50 in restitution to Fisher's Auto, as well as the costs of prosecuting the action. The 

Petitioner was given (2) two days credit for time served while awaiting sentencing the 

matter. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Petitioner was ordered into the custody of 

the Commissioner of Corrections to be transferred to the Regional Jail Authority where 

he was ordered to remain pending transfer to the state penitentiary. At that time, 

Petitioner's Counsel was also appointed to represent him in the present appeal of the 

Circuit Court's decision. The Petitioner was further directed to file a motion for 
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reconsideration within one hundred twenty (120) days of the sentence if he so 

desired.1(A.R. at 25-28). 

It is from the Order that the Petitioner appeals. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court abused its discretion in failing to grant the Petitioner's motion 

for alternative sentencing. The sentence of not less than one (1) to not less than ten (10 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Because the principle issue in this case has not been authoritatively decided in 

the Court's jurisprudence, oral argument under the Revised Rules of Appellate 

Procedure Rule 19 may be necessary unless the Court determines the facts and legal 

arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal. If the Court 

determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 

argument and disposition by memorandum decision. 

ARGUMENT 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In Syllabus Point 1 of State v. Lucas, this Honorable Court held that: 

The Supreme Court of Appeals reviews sentencing orders, including 
orders of restitution made in connection with a defendant's sentencing 
under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates 
statutory or constitutional commands. 

1 Counsel for the Petitioner filed said Motion on October 12, 2015 and it is currently pending 
before the Circuit Court of Braxton County. Because this Appellate action addresses only sentencing, 
should the Petitioner's Motion be granted, this Appellate action would likely become moot. (A.R. at 35). 
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State v. Lucas, 201 W.Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997). 

ERROR 

1. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN 
FAILING TO GRANT THE PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR 
ALTERNATIVE SENTENCING BECAUSE THE 
PETITIONER'S SENTENCE UNDER W.Va. Code §61-3A
3(c) IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT IN 
VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND IT 
VIOLATES THE PROPORTIONALITY PRINCIPLES OF 
ARTICLE III, SECTION 5 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA 
CONSTITUTION. 

The Petitioner does not contest the validity of his underlying offense. The 

Petitioner understood, in entering a guilty plea to the offense of Shoplifting-Third 

Offense, that the only his sentence could be addressed on appeal. However, the 

Petitioner argues that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in failing to grant the 

Petitioner's Motion for Alternative Sentencing, after receiving a sentence of not less 

than (1) one year nor more than (10) ten years incarceration in the state penitentiary, 

which was to run consecutively to the sentence the Petitioner received in Monongalia 

County, West Virginia. Further, the Petitioner argues that the Circuit Court abused its 

discretion because the sentence received was cruel and unusual punishment in that the 

punishment received was disproportionate to the crime committed, which consisted of 

the Petitioner removing three air fresheners and a small flashlight from an auto part 

store. 

Historically, this Court has held that sentences imposed by the trial court, if they 

are within the limits prescribed by statute, are not subject to review by this Honorable 

Court. Specifically, in Syllabus Point 4 of State v. Goodnight, this Court stated: 
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Sentences imposed by the trial court, if within statutory limits and if not 
based on some unpermissible(sic.) factor, are not subject to appellate 
review. 

State v. Goodnight, 169 W.Va. 366,287 S.E.2d 504 (1982). 

West Virginia Code § 61-3A-3(c), the third offense shoplifting statute, 
provides: 

Third offense conviction---Upon a third or subsequent shoplifting 
conviction, regardless of the value of the merchandise, the person is guilty 
of a felony and shall be fined not less than five hundred dollars nor more 
than five thousand dollars, and shall be imprisoned in the penitentiary for 
not less than one year nor more than ten years. At least one year shall 
actually be spent in confinement and not subject to probation: Provided, 
That an order for home detention by the court pursuant to the provisions of 
article eleven-b [§ 62-118-1 et seq.], chapter sixty-two of this code may be 
used as an alternative sentence to the incarceration required by this 
subsection.. 

w. Va. Code § 61-3A-3(c) (1994). 

However, the prohibition on appellate review of sentences imposed by the trial 

court is not absolute, particularly when there are constitutional issues involved. The 

Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution addresses cruel and unusual 

punishment. The Eighth Amendment provides that "excessive bail shall not be required, 

nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." Article III, 

Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution addresses the same and provides that 

"Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offence." In Syllabus 

Point 8 of State v. Vance, this Court held that Article III, Section 5 is the West Virginia 

Constitutional counterpart to the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution: 

Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, which contains the 
cruel and unusual punishment counterpart to the Eighth Amendment of 
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the United States Constitution, has an express statement of the 
proportionality principle: 'Penalties shall be proportioned to the character 
and degree of the offence.' 

State v. Vance, 164 W.va. 216, 262 S.E.2d 423 (1980). 

This Honorable Court has held that although constitutional proportionality 

arguments are typically framed around a sentence that has no fixed maximum or where 

there is a life recidivist statute, the principals may undoubtedly be applied to any 

disproportionate Sentence. This Court stated, specifically, in Syllabus Point 4 of 

Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher, 166 W.Va. 523,276 S.E.2d 205 (1981): 

While our constitutional proportionality standards theoretically can apply to 
any criminal sentence, they are basically applicable to those sentences 
where there is either no fixed maximum set by statute or where there is a 
life recidivist sentence. 

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has provided guidance in determining 

whether a sentence is constitutionally disproportionate to the offense. In Hart v. COiner, 

the Fourth Circuit held that: 

Although the standard applicable under the eighth amendment is one "not 
susceptible to precise definition," there are several objective factors which 
are useful in determining whether the sentence in this case is 
constitutionally disproportionate. The test to be used is a cumulative one 
focusing on an analysis of the combined factors. 

Hart v. Coiner, 483 F.2d 136,27 A.L.R. Fed. 93 (4th Cir. 1973) discussing 
Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972). 

Hart provided further guidance regarding analysis utilizing the nature of the 

offense. Hart found that, "In assessing the nature and gravity of an offense, courts have 

repeatedly emphasized the element of violence and danger to the person." Id. at 140

141. (Emphasis added). Hart further reasoned that another factor in the analysis was 

the "legislative purpose behind the punishment." Id. at 141. 
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Factually speaking, the Petitioner's crime was minor and the nature of the 

offense was non-violent. The criminal complaint, which was filed in the Magistrate Court 

of Braxton County, stated that the Petitioner shoplifted three air fresheners and a single 

flashlight from Fisher's Auto in Sutton, WV. All told, the items shoplifted by the Petitioner 

carried a retail value of only $9.91. All goods were recovered by the victim before the 

Petitioner left the place of business. There was absolutely no violence committed and at 

no time was there danger to any person. 

The legislative intent in regards to third offense shoplifting is clear. By increasing 

the severity of a crime that is a misdemeanor offense as a first offense to a felony 

offense as a third offense, the legislature was attempting to deter repeat shoplifters from 

offending again. In Alexander v. U.S., the United States Supreme Court held that: 

Great deference is given to the legislature's determination of what is necessary 
to achieve both the punitive and remedial goals served by' criminal penalties. 
However, the legislature's powers are limited by the Eighth Amendment to the 
United States Constitution, which is applicable to the states through the due 
process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The Eighth Amendment prohibits 
cruel and unusual punishment and the levying of excessive fines. 

Alexanderv. U.S., 509 U.S. 544,113 S.Ct. 2766,125 L.Ed.2d, 509 U.S. 544,113 
S.Ct. 2766. 

Further, in Furman, United States Supreme Court Justice Brennan observed that, 

"If there is a significantly less severe punishment to achieve the purposes for which the 

punishment is inflicted, the punishment inflicted is unnecessary and therefore 

excessive." Furman at 279, 92 S.Ct. at 2747. Here, the Petitioner was denied 

alternative sentencing and will spend up to ten (10) years in prison, on the instant 

offense alone, over stolen goods amounting to approximately $9.91. It seems blaringly 

obvious that the intent of the legislature could be carried out with a far less severe 
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sentence. Particularly, considering that numerous violent offenses in West Virginia carry 

a less-severe sentence than third offense shoplifting. 

For example, an assault under W.va. Code § 61-2-9(b) would carry a prison 

sentence of not more than six (6) months. A battery under W.Va. Code § 61-2-9(c) 

would carry a prison sentence of not more than twelve (12) months. Even an unlawful 

assault under W.Va. Code § 61-2-9(a), without malicious intent, carries a potential 

prison sentence of not less than one (1) nor more than five (5) years. 

The only violent offense under § 61-2-9(a) that carries a similar penalty to the 

present offense, with a potential prison sentence of not less than two (2) nor more than 

ten (10) years is malicious assault. The elements of malicious assault stipulate that if 

any person "maliciously shoot[s], stab, cut or wound any person, or by any means 

cause him or her bodily injury with intent to maim, disfigure or kilL .. " 

In the present case, the Prosecuting Attorney would have the discretion to 

charge the Petitioner with petit larceny in lieu of charging the Petitioner under the 

shoplifting statute. Petit larceny, which involves the taking of goods valued at less than 

$1000.00, is a misdemeanor crime under West Virginia Code § 61-3-13(b), states that: 

(b) If a person commits simple larceny of goods or chattels of the value of 
less than one thousand dollars, such person is guilty of a misdemeanor, 
designated petit larceny, and, upon conviction thereof, shall be confined in jail for 
a term not to exceed one year or fined not to exceed two thousand five hundred 
dollars, or both, in the discretion of the court. 

Id. (emphasis supplied). 

In comparison, the felony charge of grand larceny, involves the taking of goods 

valued at more than $1000.00 and typically carries a sentence of imprisonment in the 

penitentiary not less than one nor more than ten years, which is the same period of 
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incarceration imposed under third offense shoplifting. However, in the discretion of the 

court, under the grand larceny statute, the Petitioner could be confined in jail not more 

than one year and fined not more than two thousand five hundred dollars. W.Va. Code § 

61-3-13(a). 

The petit larceny statute, which the Petitioner likely could have been charged and 

sentenced under, would have imposed a jail sentence of not less than one year for the 

Petitioner taking air fresheners and a miniature flashlight with a value of only $9.91. 

Even if the Petitioner had taken goods worth more than $1000.00, under the grand 

larceny statute, with the court's discretion, the Petitioner could have been incarcerated 

for under a year and fined less than $2500. This realization is constitutionally 

problematic. This realization is particularly constitutionally problematic in the Petitioner's 

case, when the value of the goods taken was less than $10. 

Again, clearly, the intent of the legislature to deter future crimes could be carried 

out with a far less severe sentence. Sentencing the Petitioner for up to ten (10) years for 

a non-violent offense, for a crime that is in itself a misdemeanor, or would be a 

misdemeanor larceny, where the value of the goods taken was less than $10, clearly 

violates the constitutional protections of the Eighth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution. 

In Syllabus Point 5 of State v. Cooper, this Court held: 

Punishment may be constitutionally impermissible, although not cruel or 
unusual in its method, if it is so disproportionate to the crime for which it is 
inflicted that it shocks the conscience and offends fundamental notions of 
human dignity, thereby violating West Virginia Constitution, Article III, 
Section 5 that prohibits a penalty that is not proportionate to the character 
and degree of an offense 
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State v. Cooper, 172 W.Va. 266, 304 S.E.2d 851 (1983) 

A sentence of up to ten years in the state penitentiary, served consecutively to 

any other sentences the Petitioner may have for a crime of stealing three air fresheners 

and a mini-flashlight is undoubtedly so disproportionate that it "shocks the conscience" 

when a similar sentence would be served for maliciously stabbing another person with 

the intent to kill and a markedly less-severe sentence would be served for the most 

similar crime under another statute. 

The Petitioner's sentence of not less than one (1) nor more than ten (10) years 

clearly violates the cruel and unusual punishment protections of the Eighth Amendment 

of the United States Constitution because using the Hart analysis the nature of the 

offense was non-violent, the legislative purpose could be accomplished with a less 

severe sentence and violent crimes under the West Virginia Code are punished far less 

severely. Further, the punishment is not proportioned to the character and degree of the 

offence under Article III, Section Five of the West Virginia Constitution because it 

shocks the conscience that the Petitioner would receive a sentence of up to ten (10) 

years for shoplifting only $9.91 of goods. Because the Petitioner's sentence violates the 

cruel and unusual punishment protections of the Eighth Amendment and is 

disproportionate to the nature of the Petitioner's minor, non-violent offense, the Circuit 

Court undoubtedly abused its discretion in refusing to grant the Petitioner's motion for 

alternative sentencing, specifically home incarceration, which was the only less-severe 

sentence available to the Circuit Court. 
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CONCLUSION 


For the reasons more fully addressed above, the Circuit Court abused its 

discretion in refusi ng to grant the Petitioner's motion for alternative sentencing and 

sentencing him to not less than one (1) and no more than ten (10) years in the state 

penitentiary . 

WHEREFORE, the Petitioner prays that this Honorable Court will vacate the 

sentencing order of the Circuit Court; cause the Circuit Court to grant the Petitioner's 

motion for alternative sentencing; and grant unto the Petitioner such other, further and 

general relief as may seem proper to this Honorable Court.