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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner Gerald Doom is not a super-villain. He is, however, a habitual shoplifter. Since 

2012 he has been charged with shoplifting on no fewer than eight (8) occasions. According to the 

presentence investigation report prepared in this case, Petitioner had previously been convicted 

of or pled guilty to five (5) such charges and at the time he was sentenced three (3) other charges 

were pending, each in a different county. Petitioner was even arrested on shoplifting charges 

less than one month after the arrest from which this case precipitates. 

Petitioner pled guilty to third-offense shoplifting, a statutorily-defined felony. He does not 

challenge his conviction or that plea in any respect. In light of Petitioner's strong recidivist 

tendencies, the Honorable Richard A. Facemire determined that Petitioner was poorly suited for 

alternative sentencing, and imposed a sentence entirely within the parameters set by W. Va. 

Code § 61-3A-3, the appropriate statutory section. Petitioner challenges that sentence, an 

indeterminate 1-to-10 year term in prison, on the grounds that it is constitutionally 

disproportionate and thereby constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. It is not. 
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This court has previously examined the constitutional proportionality of sentences imposed 

under § 61-3A-3, and determined, by strong implication that, after the Legislature's 1994 

Amendments permitting the consideration of alternative sentences upon a conviction for tbird

offense shoplifting, § 61-3A-3 is constitutional as it is currently written. This determination is 

consistent with this court's wider jurisprudence with respect to statutes that impose heightened 

penalties upon repeat criminal offenders. It also reflects the considerable deference this court has 

for the legislative prerogative to determine the appropriate sentence structure for criminal 

conduct, and the discretion afforded to sentencing judges to impose sentences within the 

legislatively established parameters. 

Petitioner does not have a valid basis for his constitutional challenge against § 61-3A-3. 

Therefore, because the sentence he received was within the statutory parameters and was based 

on the information contained in the presentence investigation report and not any impermissible 

factor, that sentence is not subject to appellate review. Moreover, it is well settled that the 

availability of an alternative sentence is entirely within the discretion of the sentencing judge, 

and that the decision to forgo an alternative sentence is not an abuse of discretion. Accordingly, 

Petitioner's assignment of error has no merit, and his prayer for relief should be denied. 

ARGUMENT 

1) 	 W. Va. Code § 61-3A-3 is constitutionally valid on its face, therefore a sentence 
imposed that is fully within its statuory parameters cannot be a violation of the 
proportionality principle of either the Eight Amendment or Article III, Section 5 of 
the West Virginia Constitution. 

Although Petitioner nominally contends that the court below abused its discretion, the real 

thrust of this appeal is a constitutional challenge? Petitioner contends that the 1-to-1O year 

2 As explained in section 2, infra, without the constitutional challenge, Petitioner has no 
colorable ground for review. Syl. pt. 4, State v. Goodnight, 169 W. Va. 366, 366, 287 S.E.2d 
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sentence he received for his third-offense shoplifting conviction constitutes "cruel and unusual 

punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment ... and Article II, Section 5 of the West 

Virginia Constitution." Pet. Brie/at * 7. Although both this court and the United States Supreme 

Court have recognized that a disproportionately severe sentence can violate one or both of these 

constitutional provisions, the statute under which Petitioner was sentenced is constitutionally 

valid on its face and the facts of this case clearly demonstrate that the sentence imposed is 

reasonable and proportionate in light of the defendant's conduct. 

Petitioner was convicted of shoplifting by guilty plea. Shoplifting is a specifically defined 

property crime proscribed by Chapter 61, Article 3A of the West Virginia Code. W. Va. Code § 

61-3A-1 et seq. Article 3A contains a graduated penalty provision that escalates the punishment 

for repeated offenders. W. Va. Code § 61-3A-3. First-offense shoplifting is a misdemeanor with 

a statutory maximum sentence of 60 days in jail and a $500 fine (plus the required 

reimbursement of double the stolen merchandise's value, or $50, whichever is higher3). W. Va. 

Code. § 61-3A-3(a). Second-offense shoplifting is also a misdemeanor which carries a maximum 

sentence of6 months to 12 months in jail and a fine of no less than $500. W. Va. Code § 61-3A

3(b). Imposition of the maximum penalty for either a first or second shoplifting offense requires 

proof that the defendant stole merchandise worth more than $500; the penalties for "garden

variety" shoplifting of merchandise worth less than $500 are less severe.4 

504,505 (1982)("Sentences imposed by [a] trial court, if within statutory limits and if not based 
on some unpermissible factor, are not subject to appellate review."). 
3 W. Va. Code. § 61-3A-3(d) 
4 No jail time can be imposed for first-offense shoplifting ofmerchandise worth less than $500 
the maximum penalty is a $250 fine. Jail time can be imposed for second-offense shoplifting of 
merchandise under $500, but the maximum sentence is 6 months. The maximum fine for a 
second offense is $ 500. 
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While the penalties for first and second offense shoplifting are comparatively mild, the 

penalty imposed for a third offense is ratcheted up significantly: 

Upon a third or subsequent shoplifting conviction, regardless of the value of the 
merchandise, the person is guilty of a felony and shall be fined not less than five 
hundred dollars nor more than five thousand dollars, and shall be imprisoned in the 
penitentiary for not less than one year nor more than ten years. At least one year 
shall actually be spent in confinement and not subject to probation: Provided, That 
an order for home detention by the court pursuant to the provisions of article eleven
b, chapter sixty-two of this code may be used as an alternative sentence to the 
incarceration required by this subsection. 

W. Va. Code § 61-3A-3(c)(emphasis added). Petitioner pled guilty to third-offense shoplifting. 

The circuit court's commitment order exactly tracked the language of the statute; Petitioner was 

sentenced to an indeterminate period of I-to 10 years in the state penitentiary. See (App. at 30). 

"Great deference is given to the legislature's determination of what is necessary to achieve 

both the punitive and remedial goals served by criminal penalties. However, the legislature's 

powers are limited by the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution." State v. Day, 

191 W. Va. 641, 648, 447 S.E.2d 576, 583 (1994). "A criminal sentence may be so long as to 

violate the proportionality principle implicit in the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the 

Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. [Also], Article III, Section 5 of the West 

Virginia Constitution, which contains the cruel and unusual punishment counterpart to the Eighth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution, has an express statement of the proportionality 

principle: 'Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offence.'" Syl. pts. 7 

& 8, State v. Vance, 164 W. Va. 216, 217, 262 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1980); see also Wanstreet v. 

Bordenkircher, 166 W. Va. 523,528,276 S.E.2d 205, 209 (1 981)(stating that "[t]his principle of 

proportionality has been recognized in a number ofour cases" and collecting authority). 
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In Wanstreet, this court articulated the objective factors5 that are considered6 during a 

challenge to the proportionality of a sentence. See Syl. pt. 5, Wanstreet, 166 W. Va at 523, 276 S. 

E.2d at 207. The Wanstreet court also held that: 

While our constitutional proportionality standards theoretically can apply to any 
criminal sentence, they are basically applicable to those sentences where there is 
either no fixed maximum set by statute or where there is a life recidivist sentence. 

Syl. pt. 4, Wanstreet, supra. Notwithstanding Wanstreet's apparent restriction of the category of 

sentences to which the proportionality principle readily applies, this court has overturned 

sentences as unconstitutionally disproportionate in various contexts outside the narrow range 

therein described. See e.g., State v. David D. W, 214 W. Va. 167, 588 S.E.2d 156 (2003)(per 

curiam)(cumulative 1,140 to 2660-year sentence for various sexual offenses); State v. Lewis, 191 

W. Va. 635, 447 S.E.2d 570 (1994)(indeterminate I-to-IO-year sentence for third-offense 

shoplifting); State v. Cooper, 172 W. Va. 266, 304 S.E.2d 851 (1983)(45-year sentence for 

unarmed robbery by 19 year-old). The Lewis decision is an important analog, as it concerned the 

statutory section that is at issue here. Although the outcome in Lewis seems, at first blush, to be 

5 Those factors are: 1) the nature of the offense, 2) the legislative purpose behind the punishment, 
3) a comparison of the punishment with what would be inflicted in other jurisdictions, and 4) a 
comparison with other offenses within the same jurisdiction. 

6 This court has also recognized that some sentences are so egregiously disproportionate that no 
objective analysis of their proportionality is necessary. State v. Cooper 172 W. Va. 266, 272, 304 
S.E.2d 851, 857. As the Cooper court explained in its fifth syllabus point: 

Punishment may be constitutionally impermissible, although not cruel or unusual in its 
method, if it is so disproportionate to the crime for which it is inflicted that it shocks the 
conscience and offends fundamental notions of human dignity, thereby violating West 
Virginia Constitution, Article III, Section 5 that prohibits a penalty that is not proportionate 
to the character and degree of an offense. 

Id. at 267-68, 304 S.E.2d at 852; cf Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 274 n. 11 
(1980)( explaining that the "proportionality principle" would likely be implicated in an 
"extreme example" such as a statute which permitted a life imprisionment for overtime 
parking.). Respondent proffers that Petitioner's failure to cite Cooper is acknowledgment 
that the sentence at issue here is not "so offensive that it cannot pass a societal and judicial 
sense ofjustice" and therefore not disproportionate as contemplated by Cooper. 
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favorable to Petitioner, there is a critical distinction - namely, the Legislature's 1994 amendment 

of § 61-3A-3. The impact of that amendment, coupled with the logic and reasoning employed in 

Lewis, demonstrates the facial validity of § 61-3A-3 as it is currently written. Because § 61-3A-3 

is constitutional on its face, a sentence that does not exceed the statutory parameters must be 

constitutionally valid. 

In Lewis, this court evaluated the constitutional proportionality of a sentence identical to 

the one at issue here - a I-to 10-year sentence imposed upon a conviction for third-offense 

shoplifting. Lewis, 191 W. Va. at 636, 447 S.E.2d at 571. The facts in Lewis also bear a strong 

resemblance to the facts here: like Petitioner, the Lewis defendant had strong recidivist 

tendencies, see id. at 637 n. 2, 447 S.E.2d at 572, and was sentenced to the aforementioned 

period of incarceration despite having stolen merchandise worth less than $10, id. at 637, 447 

S.E.2d. at 571-72. The legal posture is also similar: the Lewis defendant, like Petitioner, argued 

that the sentencing court had erred by "fail[ing] to consider and utilize alternative sentencing." 

Id. at 638,447 S.E.2d at 573; cfPet. Briefat * 7. Addressing that alleged error, the Lewis court 

squarely considered the constitutionality of § 61-3A-3(c). 

At the time the Lewis defendant was convicted, § 61-3A-3(c) contained an absolute 

restriction on the discretion afforded to sentencing judges. The statutory language, employing the 

declarative "sh~ll," mandated that individuals convicted of third-offense shoplifting serve an 

absolute minimum of one year not only in state custody, but incarcerated in a state facility. 

Lewis, 191 W. Va. at 639, 447 S.E.2d at 574-75 (referencing the statutory command that 

individuals convicted of third-offense shoplifting "shall be imprisoned in the penitentiary for not 

less than one year ... [and] [a]t least one year shall actually be spent in confinement and not 

subject to probation."). Commenting on the stiffness of the penalty imposed by this language, the 
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court "surmise[d] that the statute's purpose was to create a strong deterrent against the 

commission of this particular crime." Id. at 639, 447 S.E. 2d at 574. However, the court 

concluded that in its zeal to fashion a suitably coercive deterrent, the Legislature had 

overreached, specifically by completely foreclosing the possibility of alternative sentencing. See 

id. (explaining that by "expressly forbid[ing] the use of probation, [the statute] impliedly 

prohibits the use of [other] alternative sentence[s] such as home confinement."). Taking note that 

some form of alternative sentencing option was available for the vast majority of crimes in West 

Virginia, even for offenses "viewed [by] societ[y] as warranting more severe penalties than 

shoplifting," the court held that under "our holdings regarding the proportionality principle" the 

"penalty imposed by West Virginia Code § 61-3A-3(c) appears disproportionate in its removal of 

alternative sentencing from those penalties permitted for third offense shoplifting." Id. at 639, 

640, 446 S.E.2d. at 574, 575. This conclusion, the court noted, appeared to have already been 

independently reached by the Legislature, considering that the statute had been amended, in an 

enactment passed before the Lewis opinion was issued, making home detention a permissible 

alternative sentence for third-offense shoplifting convictions. Id. 

Thus, Lewis stands for three propositions relevant to this appeal. The first is that although § 

61-3A-3(c) was unconstitutional before the 1994 amendment, the amendment corrected the 

unconstitutionality and thereby rendered the statute facially valid. See Syl. pt. 5, State v. Lewis, 

191 W. Va. 635, 447 S. E.2d 570. The second is that the obvious legislative purpose of § 61-3A

3(c)'s graduated penalty scheme is to deter serial shoplifters by imposing a significant penalty 

for third-offense shoplifting. Id. at 639, 447 S.E2d at 574; see also State v. Herbert, 234 W. Va. 

576,592 n. 21, 767 S.E.2d 471,487 (20 14)(noting that "in a third-offense shoplifting charge" the 

presence of prior convictions "enhances the penalty for shoplifting"); State ex reI. Chadwell v. 
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Duncil, 196 W. Va. 643,646,474 S.E.2d 573, 576 (1996)(explaining that the purpose ofa 

recidivist statute is deterrence). Finally, Lewis stands for the proposition that although 

constitutional principles require that some alternative sentencing option be available in third

offense shoplifting cases, the traditional discretion afforded to sentencing judges is undisturbed, 

and, thus, the ultimate decision concerning what sentence should be imposed is for reserved for 

the circuit judge. See Lewis, 191 W. Va. at 640, 447 S.E.2d at 575 (remanding the case for 

"consideration of ... alternative sentencing" unaccompanied by any order or instruction as to 

what sentence must be imposed)( emphasis added). 

These propositions are consistent with this court's broader jurisprudence. This court has 

long held that statues which impose heightened penalties on repeat offenders are constitutional. 

See e.g., Martin v. Leverette, 161 W. Va. 547, 554,244 S.E.2d 39,43 (1978); State v. Vendetta, 

86 W. Va. 186, 103 S.E. 53 (1920); State v. Graham, 68 W.Va. 248, 69 S.E. 1010 (1910), afJ'd, 

224 U.S. 616 (1912); see also Justice v. Hedrick, 177 W. Va. 53, 55, 350 S.E.2d 565, 567 

(1986)(noting "[t]his Court has upheld the validity of the state recidivist statute against various 

constitutional challenges"); State v. Layton, 189 W. Va. 470, 491, 432 S.E.2d 740, 761 (1993)(a 

prior conviction can be used to enhance a sentence upon a criminal defendant). And this court 

has acknowledged that when evaluating the proportionality of a penalty imposed by a recidivist 

statute, the inquiry goes beyond the specific offense which led to the conviction (and recidivist

enhanced sentence); instead it necessarily involves consideration of the predicate offenses which 

permit the imposition of the heightened penalty. See Wanstreet, 166 W. Va. at 533, 276 S.E.2d. 

at 212. As the Wanstreet court succinctly explained: 

We do not believe that the sole emphasis [of a proportionality assessment] can be 
placed on the character of the final [conviction] which triggers the . . . recidivist 
sentence since a recidivist statute is also designed to enhance the penalty for persons 
with repeated ... convictions, i. e., the habitual offenders. 

11 




Id. Finally, this court has held on numerous occasions the mere existence of alternative 

sentencing options does create an entitlement to receive such a sentence, and that the decision to 

impose (or not impose) an alternative sentence in any particular case "is entirely within the 

circuit court's discretion." State v. Duke, 200 W. Va. 356, 364,489 S.E.2d 738, 746 (1997); see 

also State v. Shaw, 208 W. Va. 426, 541 S.E.2d 21 (2000); State v. Wotring, 167 W.Va. 104,279 

S.E.2d 182 (1981); State v. Simon, 132 W.Va. 322, 52 S.E.2d 725 (1949); cf Syl. pt. 2 State v. 

Shafer, 168 W. Va. 474, 284 S.E.2d 916 (1981)("The decision of a trial court to deny probation 

will be overturned only when, on the facts of the case, that decision constituted a palpable abuse 

of discretion."). 

These propositions, acting in concert, doom Petitioner's proportionality challenge. Lewis 

demonstrates that § 61-3A-3 is constitutional as currently written.7 The statute's text expressly 

permits the imposition of the exact sentence ordered by the circuit court. Such a penalty, as 

relatively harsh as it may appear devoid of context, is clearly intended to deter habitual 

shoplifters - and this court has long recognized the constitutionality of statutes designed to deter

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